Water, Food, and Gender Equality Synergies

Exploring the water security, fisheries and gender equality nexus learning brief





The Australian Water Partnership is supported by the Australian Government and managed by eWater Ltd

waterpartnership.org.au

THE AUSTRALIAN WATER PARTNERSHIP

About the Authors

Prepared by Dr Victoria Syddall and Melita Grant (UTS-ISF) for the Australian Water Partnership.

Dr Victoria Syddall is an environmental, marine, gender and fisheries science and policy specialist with over ten years of experience in policy, research, and project management of complex issues in New Zealand and the Pacific.

Melita Grant works for the Institute for Sustainable Futures, University of Technology Sydney and specialises in water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) and integrated water resources management (IWRM) in international development, with a focus on gender equality and inclusion.

Disclaimer

This report has been funded by the Australian Government through the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade. The views expressed in this publication are the authors' alone and are not necessarily the views of the Australian Government.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Flora and Fauna International (FFI) Myanmar for their involvement in learning webinars and data collection, and for grounding the findings in the context of Myanmar. Thank you to Dr. Federico Davila Cisneros for his input and feedback on the report. We also thank Dr. John Conallin and Prof. Lee Baumgartner for their support with the fishways case study. This report and related program work is supported by the Australian Water Partnership (AWP).

The AWP is funded by the Australian Government through the Australian Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade and managed by eWater Limited.

Copyright © 2023. 19/09/2023

Cover photo: Fish Drying, Ngapali Beach, Gyeiktaw, Myanmar Source: Finn Thilsted, WorldFish

ISBN 978-1-925571-03-5 (print) ISBN 978-1-925571-04-2 (online)

Citation

Syddall, V., and Grant, M. (2023) Water, Food, and Gender Equality Synergies: Exploring the water security, fisheries and gender equality nexus learning brief. Australian Water Partnership. Accessed at: waterpartnership.org.au//wp-content/ uploads/2023/09/Water-Food-and-Equality-Synergies.pdf

Australian Water Partnership

UC Innovation Centre (Bldg 22), University Drive South Canberra ACT 2617 AUSTRALIA T: +61 2 6206 8320 E: contact@waterpartnership.org.au W: waterpartnership.org.au







Water, Food, and Gender Equality Synergies

Exploring the water security, fisheries and gender equality nexus learning brief

i

Water, Food, and Gender Equality Synergies: Exploring the water security, fisheries and gender equality nexus learning brief

ii

Contents

Introduction	1
Overview	2
Part One	
Overview of the fisheries, gender equality and water security nexus	3
Why consider gender in fisheries?	5
Gender Equality, Disability and Social Inclusion (GEDSI) Framework	10
Part Two	
Case Study 1: Considering fisheries and inclusion in river development programs across Southeast Asia	18
Case Study 2: Fisheries and gender issues in Myanmar	22
Research gaps	32
Conclusion	33
References	34
Appendix: Key recommendations in considering GEDSI and fisheries sectors	40
Figures	
Figure 1. Local fisher helping to clear a fishway catch	1
Figure 2. Fisheries, gender equality and water security nexus: considerations for the project cycle	3
Figure 3. Women Fisher, Myanmar	4
Figure 4. Fish market in Vietnam	9
Figure 5. GEDSI framework	10
Figure 6. Roles of women and men in fisheries value chain	15
Figure 7. Pak Peung Demonstration Fishway (left) and fishway concept (right)	18
Figure 8. Provincial fisheries officer helping with data collection in Pak Peung, Lao PDR	20

Figure 9. Vietnamese woman rowing boat in the Mekong River Delta, Vietnam	21
Figure 10. War Kyun makerel processing (Source: WorldFish, Myanmar)	26
Figure 11. Means of transportation to market by type of market	27
Figure 12. Fish market usage by gender	27
Figure 13. Means of transportation to market by gender	28
Figure 14. Fish drying Ngapali beach Gyeiktaw Myanmar	28
Figure 15. Women fishing with nets by the river	29
Figure 16. Distribution of household tasks by gender in the Hilsa fishing communities of Ayeyarwady Region	30
Figure 17. Buying fish from roadside sellers Pantanaw Ayeyarwady delta Myanmar	32

Tables

Table 1. The Four-Dimensional Substantive Equality Framework, and examples of relevant	ance to
gender and fisheries	8
Table 2: Examples of GEDSI considerations in fisheries	11
Table 3: GEDSI Principles guiding the transformation of fisheries	16
Table 4: FishTech GEDSI strategy	19
Table 5: Gendered division of labour in Myanmar	25

Acronyms

Acronyms	Full term
AWP	Australian Water Partnership
FFI	Flora and Fauna International
GEDSI	Gender Equality, Disability and Social Inclusion
SES	Social-ecological systems
SDG	Sustainable Development Goals
SSF	Small-scale fisheries
NGO	Non-governmental Organisation
IGO	Intergovernmental Organisation

Introduction

The relationship between gender equality, water security and fisheries are seldom studied, however, the interconnections are critical to the livelihoods and well-being of millions of people, especially those who rely on rivers. A dammed or diverted river may cut off the flow to downstream communities and stop fish from migrating upstream. Dams and changes to river flows (caused by drought, over-extraction, and climate change) impact women and men differently, given the different but equally important roles they play in water management, food production (crops, fisheries, riverine food sources) and water-dependent livelihoods (business, small scale farming, industry). Yet, water storages also play important roles in securing water for certain communities, producing electricity and mitigating floods. All these interrelated and mutually dependent factors presented in this scenario are often considered separately. In this learning brief, we consider them together – as a system.

In fisheries, we can think about these systems as dynamic social-ecological systems that have feedback and change in non-linear ways (Fischer, 2015). Changes can occur because of human-derived impacts, such as overfishing, and climate change impacts, such as changes in water availability and quality. Adaptive measures and actions are developed in response by local communities and governments who have been impacted by these changes in water and fisheries systems. Regional and national agencies that govern the resources also need to respond to these changes and challenges. If gender equality and inclusion is not considered, unintended negative outcomes, particularly for minority groups and women, can occur. Gender equality and the advancement of women and gender-discriminated people is essential to progressing sustainable development in fisheries and water management. This learning brief will demonstrate this with practical examples, applied frameworks and a range of primary and secondary evidence sources.



Figure 1. Local fisher helping to clear a fishway catch (Source: Jim Holmes Photography)

Overview

This learning brief provides an overview of the fisheries, gender and water security nexus issues, drawing on case studies from Southeast Asia and relevant literature. In Part One, an introduction into the nexus is explored, including how each of the three areas (water, food, gender) are interrelated; a synthesis of the current ideas and themes of gender equality research in fisheries is presented; and a framework that investigates and evaluates gender equality, sustainable fisheries, and water security is also provided. The synthesis of gender research is by no means exhaustive but gives a brief look into the main issues that the industry, communities, and decision-makers face when managing fisheries. This sets the scene and gives the reader some groundwork for the next part of the learning brief. Part Two provides two case studies to explore the nexus issues and policy and practice implications. Case Study 1 presents the 'FishTech Project,' which integrates technical fisheries solutions into river development programs in Southeast Asia, with consideration of gender equality and inclusion. By applying a gender equality, disability and social inclusion (GEDSI) approach (a framework presented in Part One), individuals, families, and communities can equally benefit from technical solutions to fisheries solutions, not just industry. In Case Study 2, gender equality issues in small-scale fisheries in Myanmar are explored in more depth to show that fisheries occur against the backdrop of cultural and societal processes that differentially impact women's and men's ability to participate, benefit from, and govern equitably together.

We offer principles and recommendations, along with the identification of gaps in the literature, to support policy and resource managers in an effort to guide fisheries and water management decisions.

This learning brief aims to provide a better understanding of women's role in fisheries, and to explore how the interconnections of water, food and gender need to be considered holistically for the benefit of waterway health, fisheries health, and fishing communities themselves. The brief aims to provide a better understanding of the nexus to a wide range of key actors (e.g., consultants, government officials, international agencies, and non-government organisations) that are involved in fisheries, water, and gender, but not necessarily experts in all three. This learning brief aims to provide a clearer pathway towards ensuring more sustainable and gender-equal fisheries and water sectors.

Freshwater fisheries make up a large proportion of subsistence and industrial fisheries globally, accounting for 43 per cent of the total fish harvested in 2020 and 33 per cent of the total aquatic animal production (FAO, 2022). There has been increased focus on gender and fisheries in the last two decades, and this learning brief reflects the diversity of fisheries (marine, freshwater, aquaculture) and the importance they play in communities using gender as a lens. Furthermore, marine and freshwater fisheries and aquaculture are tightly interlinked both ecologically and socially (i.e., contributing significantly to food and nutritional security while generating incomes and employment opportunities and contributing to a nation's economy) as well as economically (e.g., through linked supply chains). Thus, the lessons from this learning brief are applicable to inland fisheries in South East Asia and beyond (FAO, 2018).

Part One: Understanding and framing gender equality in fisheries and water security

Overview of the fisheries, gender equality and water security nexus



Figure 2. Fisheries, gender equality and water security nexus: considerations for the project cycle

For more detail on practical ways to consider gender equality inclusion across the project cycle, please see <u>Appendix 1</u> and <u>Table 3</u>.



Figure 3. Women Fisher, Myanmar (Source: WorldFish, Myanmar)

Why consider gender in fisheries?

Rationale

Gender equality and the advancement of women and gender-discriminated people is essential to progressing sustainable development in fisheries and water management forums (See Box 1) (Agarwal, 2018; Harper et al., 2013). Women play important roles in fisheries; however, these roles are often 'invisible,' and there has been little attention paid to these roles and contributions in the industry and most countries (Fröcklin et al., 2013; Resurreccion, 2006; Weeratunge et al., 2010). A lack of understanding of women's roles indicates their social and political marginalisation, leaving them socially and economically disadvantaged (Bavington et al., 2004). Misunderstanding and lack of awareness of gender issues in fisheries policy continues to reinforce the status quo due to deep-rooted rules, rights and roles that structure gender inequalities. For example, development projects that focus on financial and technical developments to improve gender equality arguably fall short of empowering women (Underhill-Sem et al., 2014).

It can also cause maladaptation in the efforts to insert mainstreaming policies, for example, climate change adaptation plans, leaving individuals, communities, and villages less resilient, more vulnerable, and at risk of climate change impacts. Moreover, little research has been carried out that considers intersectionality, other genders and the impacts of multiple cross-cutting issues in fisheries policy (e.g. the impacts of climate change on women in small-scale fisheries) (Samuels et al., 2021). There is also relatively less attention to men's equally gendered experiences through generalised masculinity, often resulting in gender-based violence and stereotyping (Syddall et al., 2022). As such, a more nuanced approach to gender in fisheries, beyond descriptive accounts of women's (and men's) contributions to national economies, is sought. An approach that considers gender enables greater recognition of the diverse ways women participate in and contribute to fisheries on multiple scales (Syddall et al., 2022).

Gender norms and inequalities are increasingly becoming a core component of natural resources policy, more specifically in fisheries and aquaculture (see Box 1 for a snapshot of gender and development in research) (Barclay et al., 2021b; Fortnam et al., 2019; Gallardo-Fernández, 2018; Lau et al., 2021; Prügl & Joshi, 2021; Rocheleau, 2008; Rocheleau & Edmunds, 1997; Sultana, 2011). Fisheries are generally described by gender scholars and practitioners as 'women-intensive but male-dominated,' with women workers consistently over-represented in low-skilled, poorly-paid and undervalued positions, while men dominate more powerful (higher-skilled, better-paid, more-valued) positions (Barclay et al., 2021b; de la Torre-Castro et al., 2017; Syddall et al., 2022). Little academic attention has been paid to women's roles and contributions in the industry and most countries. Within this context, stories circulate of the empowerment of women as fisheries managers, but there are equally negative stories of sex work, slavery and disenfranchisement (Biswas, 2011; Gallardo-Fernández, 2018; McNamara & Westoby, 2014; Shannon et al., 2009; Syddall et al., 2022; Teh et al., 2019).

Box 1. Gender and development

Gender equality and the advancement of women is essential to progressing sustainable development in fisheries and water (Agarwal, 2018; Harper et al., 2013). Gender norms and stereotypes relate to the socially constructed expectations and roles allocated to people in society. Gender norms relate to social systems, structures, expectations, and institutions, and how they impact members of society differently. Analysis of gender issues seeks to identify and address inequalities that are perpetuated against particular groups who may be discriminated against based on their biological sex and self-identified gender. While sex is the biological trait people are born with, gender is an acquired or self-defined identity. Social systems have underlying biases and norms that lead to the attribution of specific roles, relationships, and types of power to different biological sexes. All of these interacting factors impact gender equality, which is a human right principle and precondition for sustainable development, as per the United Nations Sustainable Development Goal 5. Gender inequality also intersects with other forms of inequalities. "Intersectionality" is a critical feminist theory and method and relates to the other forms of marginalisation that may not be gender-related, for example age, ethnicity, disability, and class, which expose people to multiple and compounding types of inequalities (Grant et al., 2019). These multiple axes of difference (and the uneven power relations associated with those differences) give rise to different forms of oppression (Thompson, 2016). The complexity of intersections between age, socio-economic status, as well as hereditary rank, can give rise to new forms of inequality and obscure others as a result of gender interventions (Alexeyeff, 2020).

Traditional approaches to understanding gender dynamics have focused on sex-disaggregated data and analysing the different impacts of development interventions on men and women (Oberhauser, 2017). While these are useful differentiations, they fail to analyse how formal institutions, governance arrangements and norms and attitudes perpetuate gender inequalities. Development programmes that are considered technologically and infrastructure-oriented do not often include gender-related differences because they are not considered relevant or important (Grant et al., 2019). For example, the growing interest in climate-smart agricultural interventions continues to be framed in traditional technology transfer models. Without gender analysis, however, they may inadvertently perpetuate gender inequalities if there is no adequate analysis of the different ways different groups can adopt new technologies (Lawless et al., 2021).

Gender and fisheries research

Women in fisheries are often labelled as 'invisible' given that they often assume roles that are unpaid, unrecognised, or underrepresented (Fröcklin et al., 2013; Resurreccion, 2006; Weeratunge et al., 2010). Policies and practices tend to exclude women's participation onshore (pre- and post-harvest activities) and in reproductive (cooking, cleaning, caring for elderly, disabled and children) and unpaid support roles. Indeed, an approach that considers gender enables greater recognition of the diverse ways women participate in and contribute to fisheries on multiple scales (Syddall et al., 2022). Researchers have compared women's roles in historical and contemporary fishing contexts as part of this transition. For example, research in Oceania revealed varied roles across Melanesia, Micronesia and Polynesian cultures, including women who fished and dived with equal abilities to men in the 1920s (Manez & Pauwelussen, 2016).

The male-centric nature of fisheries, the gendered division of roles and how gendered roles are differentiated spatially and according to resource use are key areas explored in gender and fisheries research (de la Torre-Castro et al., 2017; Fortnam et al., 2019; Prieto-Carolino et al., 2021; Williams, 2008). General assumptions that men fish 'far and deep' while women stay close to shore (e.g. via gleaning, handlining) are progressively contested (Fortnam et al., 2019). In the most recent exploration of masculinity, age and generation is useful for characterising different expressions of masculinity and determining women's participation (Salguero-Velázquez et al., 2022).

To achieve gender equality, Angeles et al. (2019) argue that stereotypes that bind people to certain choices, opportunities, roles, lifestyles and behaviours (e.g. stereotypes that see men as 'masculine' breadwinners who engage in risky and dangerous livelihoods, and women as 'feminine' as timid, nurturing, closely connected to nature, caregivers, vulnerable to domestic violence and limited in life choices) must be dismantled. However, care must be taken when considering equality. Fredman (2016) argues that efforts to achieve equality may reinforce or entrench differences, for example, the lack of consideration of social, economic and political situations that are deeply intertwined and determined by colour, religion, ethnic origins, gender or other characteristics. A more substantive interpretation is required (see Box 2 and Table 1 for an overview of Sandra Fredman's framework and its application to fisheries).

Box 2. Substantive equality: A useable framework for assessing human rights, allocation and more in fisheries

Sandra Fredman's Four-Dimensional Substantive Equality Framework exemplifies such an interpretation (see Table 1; (Fredman, 2016)). It explicates how:

- **Redressing disadvantage** requires a fundamental re-examination of the structures that perpetuate the discrimination and the removal of obstacles.
- **Redressing stigma, stereotyping and humiliation** based on gender, race, disability, sexual orientation or other identities is a major issue in fisheries (Barclay et al., 2021b; Bavington et al., 2004; Syddall et al., 2022).

Fredman argues that individuals should rather be judged on merit, for example, when applying for fisheries positions or carrying out small-scale fisheries (SSF) roles through:

- Anticipating and giving women a voice in fisheries decisions that impact them.
- Accommodating differences by redesigning roles to fit in with or to change women's expected responsibilities in their individual, community, and productive and reproductive roles.

Table 1. The Four-Dimensional Substantive Equality Framework, and examples of relevance to genderand fisheries (Source: Fredman, 2016)

Dimension	Interpretation
Redressing disadvantage	 Redressing disadvantage by removing obstacles to genuine choice (e.g., choices about roles and responsibilities within the fishing sector – i.e., women choosing to work on offshore vessels without gender-based stereotyping, on board conditions, or the risks of gender-based violence). Asymmetric and focuses on the group that has suffered disadvantage
	and its negative consequences (e.g., low pay rates or no pay for work done, high risk of unemployment, poverty and social exclusion).
Redressing stigma, stereotyping, humiliation	 The social consequences of stigma, stereotyping, humiliation, and violence based on gender, race, disability, sexual orientation, or other reasons may be experienced regardless of relative disadvantage. These factors are rife in fisheries where, for example, so many jobs are stereotyped by gender, and stigma often applies to women (and men) entering atypical occupations, such as women going to sea to fish, and men undertaking processing tasks usually associated with women.
Participation: social inclusion, political voice	• For small- and industrial-scale fisheries, this includes women being recognised as part of the very fabric of fisheries itself, from fishing customs and daily routines to having a voice in more organised work representation and formal memberships.
Accommodating differences, structural change	 To respect and accommodate differences by removing the detriment but not the difference itself. Therefore, existing social and economic structures need to be changed to accommodate differences. When women cannot manage to work during present work hours and places, how can the structures be redesigned so that women and men can both participate in the labour market and parenting?

Gender and fisheries policy: Getting gender issues on the table

Diffusion of gender into national-level fisheries policy is challenging, often experiencing a watering down process because of a lack of willingness, interest and importance placed on gender equality in fisheries (Acosta et al., 2019; Song et al., 2019). Here, gender equality policy diffusion is referred to the spreading of gender equality policy within multi-lateral agreements that seek to achieve GEDSI goals (e.g. the United Nations Sustainable Development Goal 5). Diffusion of global equity norms (such as social metanorms like human rights, gender equality, equity and environmental justice) rely on the extent to which norms align with neoliberal ideas and structures and are driven by compliance mechanisms, economic benefits, functional interactions, normative institutional environment, norm source, norm issue framing, cultural resonance and social norms (Lawless et al., 2020). For example, compliance mechanisms (treaties, policies and regulations) alone can be overly ambiguous and lack specific obligations, but are powerful when coupled with soft laws, advocacy, encouragement, raising awareness, benchmarking, codes of conduct or voluntary guidelines, which are easier to establish and change (Lawless et al., 2020; Okereke, 2008). Soft regulatory approaches alone have also been reported in the education sector to successfully promote gender equality (Casey et al., 2011).

Even with the more recent attention given to gender in fisheries management and governance, fisheries lags behind other fields, such as development studies (Desai & Rinaldo, 2016; Nightingale, 2017; Oberhauser, 2017); agriculture (Acosta et al., 2019); education (Manion, 2016); water management (Khalid Md & Huq, 2018); and feminist political ecology (Paulson et al., 2003; Rocheleau, 2008; Rocheleau & Edmunds, 1997; Rocheleau et al., 1996; Sultana, 2011). Fisheries can learn and apply certain lessons from these areas, such as the need for policy and practice to be flexible and allow for context (meaning the multiple ways gender can be contextualised through intersections with age, marital status, poverty, and health status). With more understanding, awareness, and active efforts to address these complexities, interactions that might deepen fishers' and their families' vulnerability within fisheries sectors and industries may be avoided.



Figure 4. Fish market in Vietnam (Source: Getty Images)

Gender Equality, Disability and Social Inclusion (GEDSI) Framework

What is the GEDSI Framework?

Integration of gender equality can be considered to different extents, based on varied motivations. Issues related to gender can be considered from an instrumental perspective (focused on involving women [for example] as a *means* to strengthen water security or fisheries and food security outcomes) or from a transformative perspective (focused on equitable water and food security outcomes that also transform gender relations and structures towards equality for all). The Gender Equality, Disability and Social Inclusion (GEDSI) Framework was adapted by Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade's Water for Women Fund (2021) to help build a common understanding around gender equality and social inclusion in water management and WASH programs (Figure 2). It shows that a programme can be unaware of gendered differences and, therefore, harmful without a concerted effort to consider a range of stakeholders and actors across genders, ages, cultural and racial backgrounds. With an explicit focus on social norms and decision-making power, a programme has the potential to be transformative, including in the fisheries and water management arenas.

GEDSI unaware / harmful

GEDSI aware GEDSI responsive/ accommodating GEDSI transformative

A GEDSI unaware WASH program fails to recognise the different roles, responsibilities, needs, interests and capacities of different people and identities, and their ability to enact power and access resources. It therefore fails to address barriers to participation in WASH processes, decision-making and benefits, and is likely to maintain the status quo and perpetuate, if not exacerbate, existing social inequalities.

Programs may be **GEDSI** harmful by targeting those easiest to reach, thus further marginalising others, or exploiting differences to achieve program goals. A GEDSI unaware WASH program recognises the different roles. responsibilities, needs, interests and capacities of different people and identities, and their ability to enact power and access resources, but takes minimal action to address inequality or vulnerabilities, such as the risk of violence, or challenge discriminatory norms. It focuses on practical needs more than strategic interests of women, people with disabilities, people of diverse genders and sexualities, and other marginalised groups.

A GEDSI responsive WASH program understands and addresses barriers faced by women and different marginalised groups at different levels, such as household, community, organisational, sectoral and/or structural. It addresses practical needs and strategic interests, supporting increased access and control over WASH by women, people with disabilities, people of diverse genders and sexualities and other marginalised groups. It may include GEDSI accommodating strategies, which recognise existing attitudes and barriers, but may result in superficial or temporary results.

A GEDSI transformative WASH program explicitly challenges harmful social norms and power imbalances to positively change the

to positively change the position of marginalised people, groups and identities. It recognises and addresses the risk of violence as a barrier to challenging power through Do No Harm approaches and resources GEDSI strategies, including supporting local rights holder organisations, and has articulated channels for referral to services where available. It understands, and has nuanced approaches to address, bias, resistance and backlash and reflects the principle of transformation starting with oneself.

Figure 5. GEDSI framework (Source: Water for Women, 2021)

Applying a GEDSI framework to understand and respond to social aspects of fisheries

If considered and applied, the GEDSI framework (Figure 2) can support fisheries and water management systems to be fair, just, and sustainable.

Firstly, carrying out a GEDSI analysis creates a better understanding of actors and their roles within the fishery, including their needs, what drives behaviours, and inequalities that cause individuals or groups of individuals to miss out on opportunities. This way, interventions can be better targeted.

Currently, and unfortunately, many fisheries' plans and programs run into a "business as usual" technocratic approach centred on managing biological and economic factors, which often exclude women (and other groups) in planning, design, and implementation (e.g. tuna fisheries (Syddall et al., 2022) and fisheries generally (Williams & Syddall, 2022)). This ignores the unique perspectives and knowledge that women and minorities hold – particularly when they play key roles in fisheries value chains.

As this learning brief shows, women play vital roles in fisheries within the supply chain and alongside them in wider social-ecological networks. However, because of the cultural and social norms within many fishing communities, their equitable participation can be difficult, facing multiple and varied experiences and disadvantages. For example, norms often challenge women's participation in Fiji due to their expected family responsibilities (e.g., care of children, the elderly, and the home) and community commitments (e.g., church, fundraising, catering for social events); these all limit their time (Singh-Peterson & Carnegie, 2020).

Genuinely addressing these equity and inclusion issues in fisheries programs using responsive and transformative approaches will provide for better water, biodiversity, fisheries, and community outcomes. As the research cited above has shown, approaches that seek to include women can identify innovative solutions and improve the outcomes for all involved in fisheries, not just the supply chains.

Table 2 provides examples of fisheries from around the world that are GEDSI unaware, aware, and responsive. Examples of 'gender responsive' fisheries are few and far between, but they are growing due to the increasing research and advocacy around the importance of gender equality efforts. As for examples that are GEDSI and fisheries "transformative," these are yet to be seen and evaluated because they require time, diverse partnerships, adequate budget allocation, investment in GEDSI analysis, and commitment from project partners and funders.

GEDSI Framework	Fisheries Programme(s)	Case examples
GEDSI and fisheries unaware	Input and/or output controls (e.g., total allowable catches, gear restrictions) and access agreements under rights-based regimes.	Fishing access agreements in the tuna fishery off the coast of East Africa (Andriamahefazafy & Kull, 2019) and in the Okavango Delta fishery in north western Botswana (Ngwenya et al., 2012).
GEDSI and fisheries aware	Strategies such as data gathering, education, and outreach programs.	FishTech (see case study 1). Small-scale fisheries policy instruments, e.g. Pacific (Lawless et al., 2021).

Table 2. Examples of GEDSI considerations in fisheries

GEDSI Framework	Fisheries Programme(s)	Case examples
GEDSI and fisheries responsive	Policy interventions such as disaster relief programs, industry-led interventions in processing factories, gender-based data collection to uncover contributions and impacts of small-scale fisheries, development of women's fish, processors, and traders' networks, women's collective groups.	Post 2004 Indian Ocean Tsunami assistance to women in Lake Pulicat, Tamil Nadu, India (Shanthi et al., 2017). SolTuna IFC tuna processing factory gender intervention (Barclay, 2019). Illuminating Hidden Harvests (IHH) study and report (FAO et al., 2023). AWFishNET (African Women Fish Processors and Traders Network; On Our Radar, 2023). The Gambia, Africa's TRY Oyster Women's Association (Patterson, 2022).

GEDSI unaware

A **GEDSI-unaware fisheries programme** fails to recognise the different roles, responsibilities, needs, interests and capacities of different people and identities and their ability to enact power and access resources. It, therefore, fails to address barriers to participation in fisheries supply chains (and wider networks where roles are invisible to policy and development actors), decision-making, and benefits. This programme is likely to maintain the status quo and perpetuate, if not exacerbate, existing social inequalities. Programs may be GEDSI-harmful by targeting those easiest to reach, thus further marginalising others. It may also exploit differences to achieve programme goals.

A GEDSI-unaware fisheries programme example might be the use of input and/or output controls (e.g., total allowable catches, gear restrictions) put in place based on fish biological stock assessments and access agreements under rights-based regimes, thus shaping access to marine resources. Regulations can thereby restrict the traditional uses by local coastal communities that harvest fisheries to meet their cultural and food security needs (e.g., artisanal and subsistence fisheries). In this instance, the regulations fail to recognise the interests of the local coastal communities and the impact of such regulations on the different needs of individuals and their roles. Furthermore, industrial-scale fishing may be displaced to other areas, shifting benefits, such as jobs, away from those that rely on them (markets, waged employment on boats, pre- and post-harvest). For example, researchers on tuna fishery off the coast of East Africa revealed that rights-based mechanisms such as fishing access agreements are highly questionable for their fairness and sustainability in the coastal communities of Madagascar, Mauritius and Seychelles (Andriamahefazafy & Kull, 2019). This was also the case in the Okavango Delta fishery in north western Botswana, where policy and programme interventions led to the entrenchment, rather than the minimisation, of gendered disparities between women and men fishers' access to and control over fish resources, asset accumulation and employment opportunities (Ngwenya et al., 2012). In this case, 96 basket fisherwomen from five villages along the Panhandle area of Okavango River recalled how fisherwomen's ecological knowledge, interests and concerns were excluded from zoning and closed season regulations and co-management structures. Basket fishers argued that seasonal closers and other regulations violated their cultural rights to basket-fish, which is part of the HamBukushu culture, and that it impacted their dependence on fish for food (Ngwenya et al., 2012).

GEDSI aware

A **GEDSI-aware fisheries programme** recognises the different roles, responsibilities, needs, interests and capacities of different people and identities and their ability to enact power and access resources. However, it takes minimal action to address inequality or vulnerabilities, such as the risk of violence. It also does not challenge discriminatory norms. It focuses on practical needs more than the strategic interests of women, people with disabilities, people of diverse genders and sexualities, and other marginalised groups.

A GEDSI-aware fisheries programme could include strategies such as data gathering, education, and outreach programs, for example, to increase the literacy level of women involved in fisheries as part of programs that seek to create sustainable livelihoods at the community level. While it is hoped that providing opportunities to educate women will enhance participation with institutions and organisations, help them run their businesses more efficiently, and build confidence in their entrepreneurial skills, programs that do not challenge entrenched gendered norms and practices are token and will ultimately fail. In an examination of small-scale fisheries policy instruments, Lawless et al. (2021) found gender policy to be synonymous with women in the Pacific and that it rarely looked into men and masculinity or other intersectional identities. Lawless et al. (2021) stated that conflating gender with women masks the diversity of experiences and perceptions of gendered identities, while reinforcing the status quo and ignoring power imbalances.

GEDSI responsive

A **GEDSI-responsive fisheries** programme understands and addresses barriers women and different marginalised groups face at different levels, including the household, community, organisational, sectoral and/or structural levels. It addresses practical needs and strategic interests, supporting increased access and control over fisheries resources by women, people with disabilities, people of diverse genders and sexualities and other marginalised groups. It may include GEDSI-accommodating strategies, which recognise existing attitudes and barriers, but may result in superficial or temporary results.

An example of a GEDSI responsive fisheries programme includes the post-2004 Indian Ocean Tsunami assistance to women in Lake Pulicat, Tamil Nadu, India. In early 2005, this programme, led by Dr B. Shanthi, followed the Dec 26, 2004, Indian Ocean Tsunami. The programme brought together experts in mud crab (*Scylla serrata*) and sea bream (*Lates calcarifer*) culture, plus aquafeed experts from ICAR-CIBA to work with the women's self-help groups in the area. When helped with technology, women were able to make better use of brackish waters for small-scale fishing and aquaculture. The programme noted that women were able to "regain their dignity and respectability through increased employment and income" (Shanthi et al., 2017, p. 214).

A diagnosis undertaken at SolTuna's tuna processing factory in Noro, Solomon Islands, by a team led by Kate Barclay prompted the implementation of several recommendations by SolTuna, who apparently are still taking a transformative approach to women's work in the factory at Noro (Barclay, 2019).

The overall Illuminating Hidden Harvest (IHH) report (FAO et al., 2023) was a major upgrade in methods from its earlier predecessor, the Hidden Harvest study and report (2012). The methodology involved local teams from selected case study countries and gender experts/teams from 28 of the case study countries. A multi-disciplinary approach to understanding small-scale fisheries' impacts and contribution to food security, livelihoods, poverty eradication, and healthy ecosystems reveals gender equality aspects and key pathways through which gender considerations support the contributions of small-scale fisheries to sustainable development (see Figure 6.1 of the report, (FAO et al., 2023, p. 129).

Networks such as the AWFishNET (African Women Fish Processors and Traders Network), established in 2017, gather support regionally and in certain African countries as the voice for African women in fish processing and trading. The network is supported by various donors and other agencies seeking partners for women's organisations in African fisheries.

The Gambia Women's Oyster Harvesting Collective began in 2007 and is now receiving support from the EU-FAO FISH4ACP project that has helped the women develop a 10-year plan.

GEDSI transformative

A **GEDSI transformative fisheries** programme explicitly challenges harmful social norms and power imbalances in a bid to positively change the position of marginalised people, groups, and identities. It recognises and addresses the risk of violence as a barrier to challenging power through Do No Harm approaches and resources, GEDSI strategies, including supporting local rights holder organisations (such as women's organisations, organisations for people with disabilities, and sexual and gender minorities organisations), and has articulated channels for referral to services where available. It understands and has nuanced approaches to address bias, resistance and backlash, and reflects the principle of transformation starting with oneself and one's organisations (Patterson, 2022).

Integrating gender and social inclusion into all elements of the project cycle (including tools for project design, planning, and implementation) requires a multi-faceted approach as offered in the Pacific Handbook for Gender Equity and Social Inclusion (Barclay et al., 2021a), USAID Oceans and Fisheries Partnership Regional Document on Gender Integration in the Fisheries Workplace (USAID Oceans and Fisheries Partnership, 2020)., and Wildlife Conservation Society's (WCS) Gender Equity and Social Inclusion Analysis For Coastal Fisheries by Mangubhai and Cowley (2021). WCS' guide provides valuable insights into when and how to carry out a GEDSI analysis and specific GEDSI considerations throughout the fisheries management and policy cycles (e.g., fisheries stock assessments, market surveys). It offers a framework that "conceptualises change as requiring complementary interventions at three levels to create the personal, social and structural conditions that enable people to realise their rights." The framework includes building the capacity of individuals (e.g., knowledge skills), changing relations (i.e., power relations), and transforming the structures (e.g., norms and values) required for a transformational approach to GEDSI.

As the cases show in this learning brief and the examples provided in Table 2 of GEDSI considerations in fisheries, fisheries-unaware programs can fall into the trap of reinforcing the status quo and exposing women to less equitable outcomes. However, those that tackle the root of the problems, engage in meaningful partnerships with rightsholder organisations, and conduct robust GEDSI analysis show promise for transforming fisheries into more equitable and sustainable sectors.

Key Principles in considering GEDSI in the fisheries sector

Drawing on and building upon FAO's *Towards Gender-Equitable Small-Scale Fisheries* handbook and the learnings from the investigations presented in this learning brief, the following key issues, principles, and recommendations are provided in the following section to guide efforts towards more gender-equal fisheries. They are multi-dimensional and consider social and economic equity and equality, environmental sustainability, and local food security. More importantly, gender equality principles must be harmonised with international principles of sustainable development, human rights, and gender rights.

A value chain analysis can provide a wide variety of data and information to support sustainable fisheries management. As shown in the following Figure 3, women and men play many roles in the value chain both formally and informally. Some of these roles, particularly those performed by women, are often invisible, not understood, or considered as important as others, although they are all needed and interrelated.

Predominant	gendered roles	in small-scale fi	sheries						
Pre-fishing		Fishing		Fish Processing		Trading		Governance, Fi Household	nance,
Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men
 Mend fishing gears gears Assist in boat & Assist in boat & fishing preparation & cleaning Prepare food for fishers 	 Prepare boat & fishing gears Bait preparation Boat maintenance Boat stocking 	 Foot fishing Nearshore fishing Assist fishing operation 	 Captain / manager Boat fishing (usually finfish and higher value species) 	 Cleaning fish Grading Salting / drying fish Source & purchase of raw materials (e.g. salt) 	 Sorting fish on- board Loading & unloading fish Assist in processing 	• Retail & wholesale trade of fish at local market, door-to-door, or on street	 Sell to distant markets as intermediaries & exporters Packaging & transporting 	 Science & technical administration administration Management & decision making in conservation and use entry lin conservation of children, elderly) & supporters of fishers Household finance management Owners of processing businesses 	 Management of science & technical advice Decision- making in conservation & use Ownership & access to boats, other fisheries capital, & permits
Prepare fishing ge	ars and boat	Catch fish and man operations	age fishing	Sort fish on landing, products, clean fishi	make fish ng gears	Retail and wholesale Packaging and trans	e trade of fish portation	Fisheries managem making, science and support, finance and of fisheries business household	ent decision technical d accounting es, running
Figure 3 shows pre	dominant roles acte	d by gender in sma	ll-scale fisheries. Th	e top row shows hov	w women and men	's roles are divided 1	from the generic ro	oles listed in the bott	om row based

at local markets) as well as variations depending on age, household circumstances/marital/kin status, and ethnicity. There are instances where women and men may act outside the norm due to necessity, differing contexts, or changing norms. In addition, it is important to note that a woman involved in a particular role may not necessarily equate to gender inclusion, however, where fishermen might see women as substitutes for themselves in fishing and other activities including attendance at management meetings.

transport), also in access to resources (for example, men have direct access to fish for example to sell directly in markets, while women must buy fish or collect from their husbands to then

however, between fisheries and locations. There are also differences in timing of roles undertaken (women predominately carry out roles at night e.g. markets and fishing due to gendered on multiple case studies from South-east Asia (see Kusakabe & Thongprasert (2022) for more information on gender division of labour in Southeast Asian fisheries). There are differences,

constraints faced during the day), how they are undertaken (men use motorised boats they own to fish and to transport fish to markets, while women fish in nearshore and use public

Figure 6. Roles of women and men in fisheries value chain (adapted from Sornkliang et al., 2018)

Summary of gender equality issues in fisheries and water sectors

- Fisheries are women-intensive but male-dominated
- Women remain invisible in fisheries and policy
- Gender research on fisheries remains narrow and focuses on binary genders and roles
- Women have limited access to fisheries resources, property, funds, capital, and decision-making roles
- Gender equality faces compounding threats such as climate change.

Transformative change in fisheries cannot be achieved by addressing the symptoms of gender inequality. Rather, it must tackle its root causes, including understanding drivers that cause marginalisation and exclusion, developing specific programs and strategies to overcome them, and challenging norms and stereotypes. Based on the lessons from current research, a GEDSI fisheries programme should include good governance principles for sustainable development comprising gender equality; a multi-scalar governance approach; contextualised/place-specific policies that are appropriate for the level and scale of fisheries (e.g. SSF, industrial-scale); consideration of how individuals are linked to their environment and fishery to allow fishers, processors, marketers, carers to adapt and build resilience in the face of social and environmental change (e.g. climate change). Guiding principles on GEDSI within fisheries must endeavour to address the root causes of inequality and marginalisation, as shown in the following Table 3.

Principles	GEDSI transformed fisheries
Benefits of inclusion	Inclusive approaches will lead to better environmental, nutritional, community outcomes in fisheries and water security programs.
Women's roles in fisheries need to be valued	Women's work within the aquatic foods value chain needs to be recognised, documented and valued for their contribution to the incomes, food security, health and resilience.
Endeavour to address the root causes of inequality and marginalisation	Transformative change requires that efforts towards gender equality through, for example, gender equality policies, must consider and challenge the ingrained socio-cultural processes, political landscapes, and economic processes that dictate the rules, rights, and roles that structure gender inequalities. This will help to avoid reinforcing unequal power imbalances at the individual, household, and village level.
Marginalised groups' voices are included	In fisheries, women are a particular marginalised group and are the focus of gender equality research. The perspectives, experiences, knowledge, and interests of women must be incorporated in sustainability and development programs, as well as in decisions made on the everyday management of fisheries and water security.

Table 3. GEDSI Principles Guiding the Transformation of Fisheries

Principles	GEDSI transformed fisheries
Consider that each context is unique	Fisheries operate in dynamic and complex social-ecological systems such that each place, fishery, and individual has a specific context with differential opportunities and challenges. That is why it is important for gender research in fisheries to understand and tailor policies and programs based on the intersectionality of individuals and the social-ecological interrelations of that specific fishery. This requires data for GEDSI analysis to be disaggregated by sex, age, ethnicity, and other relevant social categories (drawing on GEDSI frameworks and tools).
Ensure and enable multi-scalar governance	To address sustainability and well-being concerns of fisheries and the individuals that operate within them, governance must be collaborative across scales and levels, including ensuring and enabling cross-sectoral approaches to mainstreaming gender equality along with other mainstreaming policies such as climate change.
Avoid reinforcing status quo and apply a do no harm approach	At a minimum, efforts towards gender equality in fisheries must not cause discrimination to marginalised groups or reinforce the barriers to participation or negative stereotypes that keep people excluded from participating in the social and economic life of their fishing communities. A zero-tolerance approach must be applied to discrimination on any grounds.
Resourcing	Policy, research and interventions for sustainable resilient aquatic food systems need to commit resources and funding to address the structural inequities in the informal and formal, individual and systemic gender dimensions at intervention/project, institutional and policy levels.

When to include gender equality and social inclusion in fisheries and water management programs

Gender analysis is the first step in considering GEDSI in fisheries and water management programs. Gender analysis is a critical examination of how differences in gender roles, activities, needs, opportunities and rights/entitlements affect women, men, girls and boys in a given policy area, situation or context.

GEDSI needs to be considered at all stages of a program and project lifecycle, as shown in Figure 1. For more information, please refer to Appendix One.

The following case studies explore the themes and principles noted here in Part One in fisheries in South East Asia and demonstrate the importance of considering women, children, the elderly and other minorities in the design and construction of waterway infrastructure and in efforts to support fish biodiversity.

Part Two: Case Studies

Case Study 1: Considering fisheries and inclusion in river development programs across Southeast Asia

The 'FishTech Project' integrated technical fisheries solutions into river development programs in Southeast Asia, with consideration for gender equality and inclusion. In Cambodia, Indonesia, and Lao PDR, FishTech aims to boost livelihoods, food security and climate resilience for communities dependent on river systems. The initiative works to integrate fisheries into irrigation projects for mutual benefits as per livelihoods, biodiversity, and water management by reconnecting upper and lower river ecosystems. Fisheries in Southeast Asia are contending with the expansion of hydropower (dams), roads, culverts, and large-scale irrigation development that disconnects social and ecological river systems. Despite its intended benefits of increased rice production, agriculture and energy generation, this water control infrastructure impedes fish passage and migration pathways, which are critical for breeding and nursery habitats. Fish are a vital source of protein and micronutrients for communities in Southeast Asia, as well as income generation, especially for rural and remote populations. Fish are also an important commodity for barter and trade and can be stored to offset food availability fluctuations in seasons and harvests. The depletion of fish stocks due to hydropower and large-scale irrigation, therefore, poses threats to nutritional status, income generation, poverty reduction, and livelihoods for people who live along Southeast Asia's many rivers. This can lead to challenges in meeting international (SDGs) and national food security targets.

Building fishways are a way to support river connectivity. It allows for fish to migrate and travel up and down rivers, or laterally onto floodplains, which is necessary for spawning, fish health, biodiversity within the river, and overall fish stocks (Figure 4).



Figure 7. Pak Peung Demonstration Fishway (left) and fishway concept (right)

The FishTech project seeks to demonstrate that irrigation projects can and should consider fisheries and associated social processes, such as GEDSI. As such, FishTech developed a *FishTech GEDSI strategy*. The FishTech GEDSI strategy is twin-tracked in terms of incorporating mainstreaming and targeted activities, as explained in Table 4. A two-pronged approach ensures that all projects apply a GEDSI lens, while tailoring a more targeted intervention to each specific case. This allows flexibility and adaptivity in such dynamic social-ecological systems as well as ensuring the foundational change required for transitional outcomes.

Table 4. FishTech GEDSI strategy

Mainstreamed	Targeted
Ensuring that people who are marginalised in society (e.g., women, people with disabilities) have access to their basic needs in all projects on an equal basis. Considering GEDSI at each and every stage of a project to ensure that people are not unintendedly excluded.	Addressing specific needs of individuals and groups to empower and support them in their situation and to ensure that they benefit from management interventions. May require specific programs, support, and adjustments to shift norms and circumstances that maintain harmful norms.

Meaningful consideration of fish migration as part of irrigation and hydroelectricity projects, as well as applying an evidence-based GEDSI lens can improve outcomes for local communities (including women, children, people with disabilities and the elderly) and the overall irrigation investment. Fishways inevitably became community-owned and managed, showing that it is important that all people are able to derive benefits from increases in fishery productivity.

Why inclusion is important to designing, implementing and maintaining fishways

Women, people with disabilities (many impacted by Unexploded Ordnance (UXO)), ethnic minorities and indigenous groups have different needs, values, and knowledge with respect to the use of river and fish stocks. Therefore, their views are essential to understanding, planning and building any infrastructure related to the rivers on which they depend. Three examples are provided to illustrate this. Firstly, the FishTech team spoke to community members who explained how children use the river and how the vertical concrete design of the fishway might negatively impact them and their safety. As a result, the design was modified to flatten slopes and remove rocks to minimise harm to children when swimming in that section of the river (e.g., Pak Peung, Laos). Children can now use these as a place to socialise, play and, importantly, refine their fishing skills. Secondly, there was also the example of a hydropower project in Indonesia that inadvertently led to a decline in the local eel population. Glass eels are lucrative exports and are sold to the Japanese market for a high price. Local people highlighted their need to reinstate the glass eel population for their livelihoods. This consideration was factored into the fishway design to ensure that families dependent on glass eels continue to prosper. Thirdly, smaller fish are important for subsistence in this community and are often collected by women, children and the poorest members of the community. Thus, designing fish passages that consider these types of fish also helps to support vulnerable communities. These three examples show how designs of fish passages can better respond to a broader range of health, safety, and livelihood needs when local community needs and knowledge are drawn on.



Figure 8. Provincial fisheries officer helping with data collection in Pak Peung, Lao PDR (Source: Jim Holmes Photography)

Examples of targeted activities that FishTech is building into the programme to address GEDSI mainstreaming include:

Examples of mainstreamed GEDSI activities:

- Promote diversity in the team roles while engaging advisers and external presenters who offer different perspectives.
- Integrate GEDSI into MRL plan logic, indicators and key reporting questions.
- Maintain a balance of men and women being supported with scholarships, and explain 'if not, why not.'
- Conduct a GEDSI baseline assessment of one FishTech site and monitor it over the life of the project.
- Ensure mention of GEDSI in the description of FishTech's technical and development scope; review core masterclass content to enhance reference to GEDSI (text, visuals).
- Develop standard design criteria to ensure that all community members benefit from future fishways.

Examples of targeted GEDSI activities:

- Connect with local organisations and networks that represent women, people with disabilities and indigenous and ethnic minority groups to consult with a cross-section of community members in a given site. This could explore interactions with the river for livelihood, recreation and cultural practices, as well as practices relating to the life cycle of fish in the area.
- Fisheries and fishways masterclass to involve people with disabilities or representative organisations (as participants and/or as content specialists on universal design principles), women and representatives from local ethnic minority groups.

During the FishTech project, a case study on GEDSI considerations for fish passages will be developed and provided on partner websites.



Figure 9. Vietnamese woman rowing boat in the Mekong River Delta, Vietnam (Source: Getty Images)

Case Study 2: Fisheries and gender issues in Myanmar

Fisheries are intrinsically dependent on water, as is agriculture. Water management provisions in agriculture directly impact the sustainability of the fishery sector and, hence, the food security of Myanmar. For instance, Conallin et al. (2019) illustrate the negative consequences of water-blocking infrastructure for irrigation on the migration of in-land fish, underpinning the need for close cooperation between the different sectors.

This section presents a case study of fisheries, gender, and water issues in Myanmar. Like agricultural systems, fisheries occur against the backdrop of cultural and societal processes that differentially impact women's and men's ability to participate, benefit from, and govern equitably together.

The case study was undertaken through desktop analysis of academic literature, grey literature, and questionnaires (n = 8) by Flora and Fauna International Myanmar.

The following sections provide a brief review of the literature on fisheries and gender equality and gender research and application in Myanmar, followed by a discussion on research gaps.

Exploring the fisheries, gender, and water nexus

Myanmar's marine and freshwater fisheries contribute significantly to food and nutritional security while generating income and employment opportunities, and contributing to the nation's economy (Silvester et al., 2020; Soe et al., 2020; Tial et al., 2020). The country's recent economic and political disruptions and the neoliberal efforts towards opening the country present new challenges to the equitable and sustained growth of its fisheries. Until recently, fisheries worldwide have focused primarily on biology, stock assessment, and environmental and climate research, with scant attention to gender or the gendered dimensions of fisheries (Evans et al., 2015; Keen et al., 2018; Moore et al., 2020). To date, social research with particular attention to gendered roles within fisheries remains a key gap in many fisheries. However, a growing body of evidence in Myanmar and worldwide reveals that women play key roles in contributing to food security, the economy and livelihoods through the harvest and processing of fish, linking poverty reduction and food and nutrition security to Agenda 2030 (Agarwal, 2018; Angeles et al., 2019; Gender Equality Network, 2015b; Harper et al., 2013).

The literature reviewed and cited in this learning brief provides a rapid overview of the importance of water resources, food security and gender equality for sustainable development in Myanmar. As a relatively abundant natural resource, water continues to provide essential livelihood, cultural and ecosystem services to communities throughout the country. Large-scale government agencies working with both water and land resources offer an opportunity for greater connection to be made between the sectors, and between the interrelated SDGs. The country's natural resource base is increasingly impacted by seasonal variability (the wet and dry seasons), climate change-related variability and impacts, pollution, over-extraction, and increased hydropower development. The agricultural sector underpins Myanmar's rural economies and is a major user of groundwater in the Central Dry Zone. As one of the most vulnerable countries to climate change, both agriculture and water are in urgent need of innovative solutions that support communities and the development of the country (Eckstein et al., 2021). Since most people live in rural areas and are employed in the agricultural sector (49 per cent), these people are especially vulnerable to climate change (World Bank, 2021).

The Global Climate Risk Index (2021) lists Myanmar as one of the top three countries most affected by extreme weather events between 1999 and 2018.

While women always have, and continue to play, important roles in water resource management, water access and household food security, they remain marginalised from legal and political processes. Due to the interdependencies of food security, sustainable water management and advancing gender equality and inclusion, developing strategies to improve gender equity in the water and agriculture sectors requires methodologies that support critical thinking and active engagement across the different sectors. Synergistic thinking and practices bring a diversity of knowledge to the fore. In support of this approach, the following sections focus on how systems-based integrative research, learning and policy development can support synergies across the SDGs in Myanmar.

Women and gender issues in Myanmar

Myanmar ranks 106th out of 189 countries in the Gender Inequality Index (United Nations Development Programme, 2022)

While women have increased their role in governance and policy processes, and new laws and strategies supporting women in Myanmar have been developed, multiple challenges remain (as is the case in most contexts). Available information points to considerable gender disparities in terms of labour market access, employment, wages, access to education and establishment of property rights (Baran et al., 2017). Social norms related to the different roles that men and women play in society lead in Myanmar, especially in terms of the role of women in farming and fisheries and within households (Belton & Filipski, 2019; Lamb, 2018).

Like many other countries in Southeast Asia, rural development and social relations are heavily influenced by the cultural norms and structures that influence gender relations between people. Myanmar is home to over 135 officially recognised ethnic minority groups. The majority of these group live in remote areas that are often prone to conflict and natural disasters (Kramer, 2015). While data disaggregated for ethnicity and gender are largely absent, it is to be expected that such cultural diversity will reflect on gender norms and that generic statistics mask the gender realities on the ground.

While women are not the only group affected by gender inequalities, they make up half of the population and experience gender norms in specific ways. Focusing on women's access to legal rights, training and education and understanding their role in agriculture and water management is essential for sustainable development in any context, including Myanmar. For instance, women perform most tasks related to crop cultivation, such as planting, weeding, harvesting and marketing, and bear the brunt of domestic and care work related to fetching drinking water, preparing meals and caring for children and other household members (Asian Development Bank et al., 2016).

The United Nation's 2019 Gender Inequality Index (GII) ranked Myanmar 106 out of 162 countries. The GII value varies from 0 to 1, with a value closer to 0 indicating high equality and a value of 1 indicating extreme inequality. In 2019, Myanmar's value was 0.458. In addition, the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD)'s 2019 Social Institutions and Gender Index (SIGI) placed the country 92 of 180 countries and 7 of 11 countries in Southeast Asia. In 2019, Myanmar's SIGI value was 42 per cent, where higher values indicate higher inequality. There are a number of other telling statistics in Myanmar that demonstrate gender inequality, especially in regard to full and equal participation in the economy. Gender differences in access to economic opportunities are frequently established in relation to labour market participation. In Myanmar, there is a substantial gap between females and males in the labour force, at 50 and 85 per cent, respectively (Asian Development Bank et al., 2016). Also relevant to gender inequality in the labour force, women are estimated to earn 30 per cent less than men on average for their labour and only 10 per cent of national Parliament seats are held by women, limiting women's decision-making power (International Women's Development Agency, 2023). A recent United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) report (2020) indicates that the legal and institutional frameworks for gender equality, including the 2018 – 2030 Myanmar sustainable development plan, present many opportunities for the social and economic empowerment of women; however, the realisation of the gender equality goals is challenged by lack of political will, resources, and adequate mechanisms.

In recent years, various initiatives driven by local and international NGOs in Myanmar have advanced gender equality thinking, planning and project implementation. Youth engagement programs like the Myanmar Young Water Professional Program, which includes a one-year training and mentorship programme to create the next generation of water leaders (The Australian Water Partnership, 2021), have also supported a significant number of young water professionals, including women. Additionally, a situation analysis of gender equality and women's rights in Myanmar documented some of the gender progress made in the country, notably since some recent policy reforms and the implementation of the National Strategic Plan for the Advancement of Women (2013–2022) (Asian Development Bank et al., 2016). For example, women have a higher level of secondary level education completion in Myanmar overall than men in Myanmar (United Nations Development Programme, 2022). Interestingly, 52.4 per cent of staff at the ministerial level in government work in 2010 were women, although they are found less in senior or senior-most management positions (Asian Development Bank et al., 2016). For the Ministry of Science in particular, 74 per cent of total employees were women, with 65 per cent of them at the management level (Asian Development Bank et al., 2016). Despite growing awareness and some progress toward achieving gender parity, global and regional indices continue to reflect gender inequalities in Myanmar.

Overview of gender and fisheries research in Myanmar

Myanmar mirrors many of the global trends and statuses of women and men and the gender inequalities in fisheries. These trends are mainly tied to social and cultural traditions, values, and norms, and also to global, political and economic forces. Many fishing households are characterised as extremely economically and socially vulnerable due to the seasonal nature of fishing and the resulting irregular flows of income (Khaing et al., 2018). However, as will be reported below, there are outliers where women go outside the norm and assume more typically male-dominated roles. This occurs in villages where it is more socially accepted for women to fish, or where certain circumstances require a wife or daughter to fish with their husbands or fathers because they cannot afford to pay for crew.

Gender and fisheries research in Myanmar includes cases from Mon Stat and Tanintharyi Region, Ayeyarwaddy Delta Region (Ichikawa, 2019; Khaing et al., 2018), Sagaing Region, and a region-wide report that investigated culture, power and gender equality more broadly across seven states (Chin; Kachin, Kayah, Kayin, Mon and Rakhine and Shan) and four regions (Ayeyarwady, Sagaing, Tanintharyi and Yangon) (Angeles et al., 2019; The Gender Equality Network, 2015). As with global fisheries research that explores through a gender lens, research into Myanmar includes descriptive narratives of women's and men's roles, with investigations into how culture and power influence them, as well as preliminary assessments and scoping activities across markets and supply chains, rights and policies, impacts of development and access to fisheries and investments. At present, research is in an incipient state, with research gaps requiring attention. These are further examined below. The following provides an overview of gender research in fisheries in Myanmar, drawing on these studies. The results are based on common political ecology and economic themes, including labour and labour markets, resource allocation, property rights and regulation, globalisation and trade, investment and finance and institutions and interests. Research gaps and opportunities for further work are then provided.

Key themes and issues in fisheries and gender

Labour and labour markets

Like other research elsewhere, women's and men's roles remain a key focus of gender and fisheries research in Myanmar (Barclay et al., 2021b; Nishchith, 2001; Peterson, 2003). In Myanmar, a strong gendered division of labour (GDL) exists, even more so in rural communities (Gender Equality Network, 2015b; Ichikawa, 2019). Based on the existing research and questionnaire surveys conducted in Myanmar (n = 8), a summary of the roles that women and men occupy in fisheries across Myanmar is presented in Table 5. It is important to note that gender research thus far remains binary; therefore, the reporting here is restricted to women and men. Moreover, reporting is silent on other identities, such as religion and age.

Role	Gender (women (W); men (M) bolded to emphasise gender more commonly associated with roles)
Pre-harvest (preparing for fishing)	M ,F
Fishing	M ,F
Fishing partner (throwing and lifting the fishing nets)	M ,F
Post-harvest (collectors, selling, marketing, processing, household consumption)	F,M
Production of dried fish and fish paste	F,M
Resource management / leadership	М, F
Fisheries management	M , F
Supporting roles (care work such as house chores, raising children)	F

Table 5. Gendered division of labour in Myanmar



Figure 10. War Kyun makerel processing (Source: WorldFish, Myanmar)

In an FAO working paper that tests the Voluntary Guidelines for Securing Sustainable Small-Scale Fisheries on gender equality in several SSF communities in Mon State and Tanintharyi Region, Angeles et al. (2019) report entrenched gender roles and gendered impacts for women and men, including labour participation, community roles and access to resources. Women play an important yet invisible and unacknowledged role in community life (Angeles et al., 2019; Ichikawa, 2019). A female participant in the Angeles et al. (2019) study noted that "Girls cannot go fishing. If they do not have a husband, they have to do other jobs like washing clothes, working for other people or gardening." Furthermore, this study shows that women lack deeper and more involved participation at the community level and tend to make decisions over household expenses, children's education, health and sanitation. Without a voice in decision-making, women's issues are not heard and are, thus, invisible. Equally, in the Khaing et al. (2018) study of the Hilsa fishery in the Ayeyarwady Delta Region, access to markets is gendered in terms of mode of transport and distance. Figures 5, 6, and 7 below from Khaing et al. (2018) show transportation to market by type of market, fish market usage by gender, and means of transportation to market by gender. Generally, most households access markets on foot or by boat; men predominately use boats to nearby villages or the township fish collector, and women walk to the local village markets. These findings follow the regional trend that women are under-represented in public life and government at local and central levels, where leadership is considered a male entitlement (Gender Equality Network, 2015a).

However, the Ichikawa (2019) study on the roles of multiple actors in the Myanmar fisheries valuechain alerts to the complexity and diversity of gender issues and challenges, and report on surprising results that contradict main-streamed assumptions about the term 'gender.' For example, rather than remaining close to home, some women fish processors were found to be the most mobile and reach the central market in Yangon. A questionnaire participant from the Bago and Sittaung Regions noted that while men traditionally and more commonly hold harvesting roles, more women are now participating in these roles and that "there are boats with women fishers only." The respondent also noted that women may join their husbands or fathers on board to fish if labour is not available due to a lack of funds.



Figure 11. Means of transportation to market by type of market (Source: Khaing et al., 2018)







Figure 13. Means of transportation to market by gender (Source: Khaing et al., 2018)



Figure 14. Fish drying Ngapali beach Gyeiktaw Myanmar (Source: Finn Thilsted, WorldFish)



Figure 15. Women fishing with nets by the river (Source: Getty Images)

Women hold multiple roles in informal and formal sectors, including household roles, fishing and pre- and post-harvesting roles, and part-time roles to supplement household incomes (Soe et al., 2020). Moreover, women are reported to work longer hours in lower-paid, less-skilled roles (Soe et al., 2020). These findings are demonstrated as being the case for women in the Hilsa fishing communities of the Ayeyarwady Region (see Figure 8 below). Besides post-harvest activities, women also fish with their husbands and other women or alone around Inle Lake, Gulf of Mottama (Soe et al. 2020). The Moken ethnic minority group in the Andaman Sea (Lampi Island) has many women fishers fishing from open wooden boats, trolling and gigging for squid that are towed out in a flotilla of up to ten canoes to sea by a 'mother' boat and left for 12 hours (NGO representative, August 25, 2022). Nonetheless, their dominant role remains in post-harvesting, including value-added activities such as salting, drying, pickling, fermenting and smoking (Ichikawa, 2019) (Figure 8). The separation of roles is described by The Gender Equality Network (2015) as "women's double burden," where women must work hard at home and in the markets, selling fish for very little benefit, while "men spend all the money for the alcohol." Guérin et al. (2013) discuss the complexities of women's agency, empowerment, power and economic relations. Women are primarily dependent on the fish caught by men, with little decision-making power outside of the household (Angeles et al., 2019). In the community, men hold leadership positions, and women are more often involved in support activities, such as organising and facilitating monastery and church activities, local markets or religious festivals (Angeles et al., 2019).



Figure 16. Distribution of household tasks by gender in the Hilsa fishing communities of Ayeyarwady Region (Source: Khaing et al., 2018)

These cases corroborate the global trend and are explained by the deeply intertwined political economy, cultural practices, norms and power relations across multiple scales (household, community, village, region) and involving layers of intersectionality such as age, culture and religion (Barclay et al., 2021b; Syddall et al., 2022; Williams & Syddall, 2022). Owing to practices reaching back to the Industrial Revolution, women's low- and high-skilled labour (productive, reproductive, care) has become a low-cost (even free) commodity for the sector, as in other international trade sectors (garment industry, electronics, agriculture), drawing on new labour markets (migrants, labour recruiters) and lately being reached by social dimensions (at least in fishing) of corporate social responsibility (Williams & Syddall, 2022). Macroeconomic growth policies, although genderblind, impact women. These effects may differ, depending on the development stage of the economies, for instance, during times of no growth or even degrowth. However, gender values and norms can change over time and are influenced by many factors. For example, advances in women's education, and mixed and changing attitudes toward women's paid workforce participation, have increased women's participation and paid work in fish value chains (as described by research participants from the Bago and Sittaung Region and explored in Salguero-Velázquez et al. (2022). Yet, there is little change in underlying social attitudes to and practices in reproductive and care work. Strong gender divisions of labour (stereotyping, disadvantage, lack of participation and structural issues) and gender pay gaps still exist (Syddall et al., 2022). Dominant institutions involving labour and labour markets are governed by capitalist markets and corporations, of which governments are enablers through labour policies and regulations, including for migrant labour (Desai & Rinaldo, 2016).

Women's collective action in Myanmar has been weak. However, there is a shift, and stronger groups are emerging, including women's movements through NGO- and intergovernmental organisation (IGO)-led programs, such as FAO's FishAdapt project and various women's self-help groups.

There is still a gap in the research that looks at larger-scale fisheries' supply chains, as this is where women often dominate roles in post-harvest production as a source of low-cost labour. In addition, a clear outline of each major fisheries supply chain and region is absent. It would be helpful for researchers to explore wider social-ecological systems and their impacts on gender (and vice-versa).

Resource allocation, property rights and regulations and transitions of governance

Generally, women's right to access and own land tends to be highly insecure (Asian Development Bank et al., 2016). Land must be registered to the head of the household, and households are predominately male-headed. In a 2010 data, 84.9 per cent or 4 million agricultural households were headed by males, whereas 15.1 per cent or 816,000, were headed by females (Asian Development Bank et al., 2016). This data has negative impacts for women and their access to finance and decision-making capacities in fisheries. For example, a recent study on women's participation in decision-making in small-scale aquaculture in the Ayeyarwady Delta Region found that maleheaded households have higher technical efficiency than women-headed households due to the social and cultural norms that favour the participation of men in social networks (Aung et al., 2021). However, the same study found that women's participation in decision-making correlates with improved technical efficiency. Prevailing challenges are reported in a recent WorldFish report (WorldFish, 2021) and include land access, ownership issues, distance from ponds and lack of technical and business management skills, all affecting the confidence to lead. Conversely, the report noted the improvement of confidence, leadership skills, experience and income in 19 per cent of women farmers of the 215 women recruited in the Fish for Livelihoods activity to support small-scale aquaculture farmers, households, fish value chains and market actors throughout Myanmar (WorldFish, 2021).

Development aspirations have also unevenly impacted women and men in small-scale fisheries in Myanmar (Angeles et al., 2019). For example, development in the hotel and tourism industry has impacted fisheries by way mangroves and fishing grounds and displacement of villagers through rezoning areas as tourism zones. Additionally, the prioritisation of international companies to access new markets through exports and develop the fishery sector has reshaped the sector itself (see Belton et al. (2019) for a review of Mon State's fishery). There are clashes between SSF and large-scale fisheries to access deeper, more bountiful waters (Angeles et al., 2019). A 2019 FAO study explored the implementation of the SSF Guidelines in Mon State and Tanintharyia Regions and reported that men have been negatively impacted through loss of control of resources like licensing, conflicts with large-scale fisheries, high costs of maintaining boats and equipment and lower fish catch (Angeles et al., 2019). On the other hand, women were concerned with reduced fish catch to process into fish paste, lower bargaining power with intermediaries and pressures for children to leave school to earn income for their family (Angeles et al., 2019).

Recent economic trends in Myanmar, informed by neoliberal economic policies, have led to changing access and rights to fisheries. The impacts are widespread. Importantly, those in SSF are less understood (Angeles et al., 2019). There are, however, transitions to co-management approaches (e.g., community-based fishing management (CBFM)) to achieve more environmentally-and socially-just outcomes, yet these are at an incipient stage. NGOs are working to promote both CBFM and fisheries co-management (NGO representative, 2022). More research is required to explore these transitions in the context of gender equality implementation.

Research gaps

Overall, research on gender and fisheries is limited in terms of contextual studies but is increasing more generally in terms of the lessons learned that are applicable across the sector. There is no full picture for understanding gender issues and geographic representation across each of the major fisheries in the world and their supply chains. Furthermore, legal frameworks and policies are usually fragmented (across sectors and scales of a fishery) with different gender equality and women's rights standards, as well as policy-practice gaps. There are also gaps in understanding the compounding environmental, social, political, and economic impacts on gender, and how implementing multiple SDGs could be done through an integrative approach targeting gender, climate change, COVID-19, and disaster recovery.

Fisheries development programs, such as international trade agreements and development movements for "aid for trade" deals, happen without understanding social and environmental implications. Governments and businesses have focused disproportionately on international fish trade, largely controlled by large-scale companies, in which women play an important but powerless role providing labour, and relatively less attention to domestic trade in which women (still largely stratified by scale) have more power and agency. This gap is important in the literature (for Myanmar and also for fisheries concerned with impacts on gender equality). Currently, research is dominated by NGO grey literature, and there is a lack of peer-reviewed literature. Nevertheless, these reports provide a rich account of some fisheries in certain locations with some salient recommendations for gender mainstreaming.



Figure 17. Buying fish from roadside sellers Pantanaw Ayeyarwady delta Myanmar (Source: Worldfish, Myanmar)

Conclusion

Achieving sustainable development of fisheries, water, and gender equality depend on considering gender relations and inequalities across the full spectrum of fisheries, water and other sectors, such as agriculture and related decisions and activities. This move will require political will, gender and sex-disaggregated data, a better understanding of the intersectionality challenges, and transitional shifts in cultural beliefs in the acceptance towards women having agency over their roles and participation in fisheries and fisheries management. Furthermore, the analysis of inequality needs to consider historical and socially constructed differentiations between groups and individuals in order to work towards more equitable futures.

The following is a list of key recommendations for greater progress on gender issues in fisheries based on the literature review, the case studies provided in this learning brief, and the FAO's guidance on gender equality in small-scale fisheries (FAO, 2017).

Education, capacity building, and support need to be provided to those in charge of implementing gender equality programs and policies related to natural resources management, such as fisheries.

Research: Based on the gaps identified in this learning brief, more research is needed to understand the barriers women and men face to participate equally in fisheries better. This includes:

- Contextual studies, as each fishery and community hold different social and ecological challenges. This includes understanding the political economy of GEDSI (e.g., processes and relations of labour, technology, capital accumulation, governance of fisheries).
- Qualitative as well as quantitative research to capture more than just sex-disaggregated data, including intersectional gender research.
- Coupled research on cross-cutting issues, themes, and sectors such as climate change-fisheries-gender; water-fisheries-gender; or other sectors that impact on, or compete for, space and resources, such as deep-sea diving, forestry, or agriculture.
- Gender-based violence in fisheries faced by all but are gendered because of their masculinities or femininities (such as those termed as slavery at sea, but that should be explored as gender-based violence because of the strong gendered-based roles).

Monitoring and evaluation: Policies and programs implemented must be monitored and evaluated to learn from wins and losses towards gender equality.

Responsible fisheries and sustainable development need to be considered through a **gender lens** which can be done by incorporating **gender mainstreaming** across multiple scales of governance (government, non-governmental organisations, from local to global levels). Such strategies need to be incorporated in a well-supported and informed GEDSI strategy or gender action plan outlining roles, responsibilities, funding, work plans and accountability measures to ensure that GEDSI considerations do not fall off inadvertently.

Responsibility to progress gender equality lies with multiple stakeholders across local, national and even international scales of governance (both within fisheries and in other sectors such as water and agriculture). Therefore, governance must be structured in a way that enables multi-scalar collaboration, not just of policy but also research and on-the-ground support, such that there is an applied cross-sectoral as well as contextual approach.

References

Acosta, M., van Bommel, S., van Wessel, M., Ampaire, E. L., Jassogne, L., & Feindt, P. H. (2019). Discursive translations of gender mainstreaming norms: The case of agricultural and climate change policies in Uganda. *Women's Studies International Forum, 74*, 9-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wsif.2019.02.010</u>

Agarwal, B. (2018). Gender equality, food security and the sustainable development goals. *Current opinion in Environmental Sustainability, 34*, 26-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2018.07.002</u>

Alexeyeff, K. (2020). Cinderella of the south seas? Virtuous victims, empowerment and other fables of development feminism. *Women's Studies International Forum, 80*, 102368. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wsif.2020.102368

Andriamahefazafy, M., & Kull, C. A. (2019). Materializing the blue economy: tuna fisheries and the theory of access in the Western Indian Ocean. *Journal of Political Ecology, 26*. <u>https://journals.uair.arizona.edu/index.php/JPE/article/view/23040/0</u>

Angeles, M. B., Barbesgard, M., & Franco, J. (2019). Trends in small-scale fisheries in Myanmar: Tenure rights and gender. In L. Westlund & J. Zelasney (Eds.), *Securing sustainable small-scale fisheries: sharing good practices from around the world. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper* (pp. 67-85). Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. <u>https://www.fao.org/3/ca3041en/CA3041EN.pdf#page=77</u>

Asian Development Bank, United Nations Development Programme, United Nations Population Fund, & United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women. (2016). *Gender Equality and Women's Rights in Myanmar: A Situation Analysis* <u>https://openaccess.adb.org</u>

Aung, Y. M., Khor, L. Y., Tran, N., Shikuku, K. M., & Zeller, M. (2021). Technical efficiency of small-scale aquaculture in Myanmar: Does women's participation in decision-making matter? *Aquaculture Reports, 21*, 100841. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aqrep.2021.100841</u>

Baran, E., Ko Ko, W., Wah, Z. Z., Nwe, K. M., Ghataure, G., & Soe, K. M. (2017). *Fisheries in the Ayeyarwady Basin: Ayeyarwady State of the Basin Assessment (SOBA) Report 4.1.* <u>https://digitalarchive.worldfishcenter.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.12348/696/4252.pdf?sequence=1</u>

Barclay, K. (2019). Facing gender inequality head-on helps SolTuna succeed. Australian Aid Pacific Women: Shaping Pacific Development,. Retrieved 12 April from https://pacificwomen.org/news/facing-gender-inequality-head-on-helps-soltuna-succeed/

Barclay, K., Mangubhai, S., Leduc, B., Donato-Hunt, C., Makhoul, N., Kinch, J., & Kalsuak, J. (2021a). *Pacific handbook for gender equity and social inclusion in coastal fisheries and aquaculture*. (Second ed.). Pacific Community. <u>https://coastfish.spc.int/en/component/content/article/494-gender-equity-and-social-inclusion-handbook</u>

Barclay, K. M., Satapornvanit, A. N., Syddall, V. M., & Williams, M. J. (2021b). Tuna is women's business too: Applying a gender lens to four cases in the Western and Central Pacific. *Fish and Fisheries, 00*(n/a), 17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/faf.12634</u>

Bavington, D., Grzetic, B., & Neis, B. (2004). The Feminist Political Ecology of Fishing Down: Reflections from Newfoundland and Labrador. *Studies in Political Economy, 73*, 159-177. https://doi.org/10.1080/19187033.2004.11675156

Belton, B., & Filipski, M. (2019). Rural transformation in central Myanmar: By how much, and for whom? *Journal of Rural Studies, 67*, 166-176. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2019.02.012</u>

Belton, B., Marschke, M., & Vandergeest, P. (2019). Fisheries development, labour and working conditions on Myanmar's marine resource frontier. *Journal of Rural Studies, 69*, 204-213. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2019.05.007

Biswas, N. (2011). Turning the tide: Women's lives in fisheries and the assault of capital. *Economic & Political Weekly, XLVI*(51), 53-60. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/23065549</u>

Casey, C., Skibnes, R., & Pringle, J. K. (2011). Gender Equality and Corporate Governance: Policy Strategies in Norway and New Zealand [Article]. *Gender, Work & Organization, 18*(6), 613-630. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0432.2010.00514.x

Conallin, J. C., Baumgartner, L. J., Lunn, Z., Akester, M., Win, N., Tun, N. N., Nyunt, M. M. M., Swe, A., M., Chan, N., & Cowx, I. G. (2019). Migratory fishes in Myanmar rivers and wetlands: challenges for sustainable development between irrigation water control infrastructure and sustainable inland capture fisheries. *Marine and Freshwater Research*. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1071/MF19180</u>

de la Torre-Castro, M., Fröcklin, S., Börjesson, S., Okupnik, J., & Jiddawi, N. S. (2017). Gender analysis for better coastal management – Increasing our understanding of social-ecological seascapes. *Marine Policy, 83*, 62-74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2017.05.015</u>

Desai, M., & Rinaldo, R. (2016). Reorienting Gender and Globalisation: Introduction to the Special Issue. *Qualitative Sociology, 39*, 337-351. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11133-016-9340-9</u>

Eckstein, D., Künzel, V., & Schäfer, L. (2021). *Global Climate Risk Index 2021*. GermanWatch. <u>https://www.germanwatch.org/sites/default/files/Global%20Climate%20Risk%20Index%202021_2.pdf</u>

Evans, K., Young, J. W., Nicol, S., Kolody, D., Allain, V., Bell, J., Brown, J. N., Ganachaud, A., Hobday, A. J., Hunt, B., Innes, J., Gupta, A. S., van Sebille, E., Kloser, R., Patterson, T., & Singh, A. (2015). Optimising fisheries management in relation to tuna catches in the western central Pacific Ocean: A review of research priorities and opportunities. *Marine Policy, 59*, 94-104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2015.05.003</u>

FAO. (2017). Towards gender-equitable small-scale fisheries governance and development – A handbook: In support of the implementation of the Voluntary Guidelines for Securing Sustainable Small-Scale Fisheries in the Context of Food Security and Poverty Eradication. <u>https://www.fao.org/3/i7419e/i7419e.pdf</u>

FAO. (2018). FAO Yearbook. Fishery and Aquaculture Statistics 2016. FAO.

FAO. (2022). The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2022: Towards Blue Transformation.

FAO, Duke University, & WorldFish. (2023). *Illuminating Hidden Harvests: The contributions of small-scale fisheries to sustainable development*. <u>https://www.fao.org/3/cc4576en/cc4576en.pdf</u>

Fischer, J., Gardner, T.A., Bennett, E.M., Balvanera, P., Biggs, R., Carpenter, S., Daw, T., Folke, C., Hill, R., Hughes, T.P., Luthe, T., Maass, M., Meacham, M., Norström, A.V., Peterson, G., Queiroz, C., Seppelt, R., Spierenburg, M., Tenhunen, J. (2015). Advancing sustainability through mainstreaming a social–ecological systems perspective. *Current opinion in Environmental Sustainability, 14*, 144-149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2015.06.002</u>

Fortnam, M., Brown, K., Chaigneau, T., Crona, B., Daw, T. M., Goncalves, D., Hicks, C., Revmatas, M., Sandbrook, C., & Schulte-Herbruggen, B. (2019). The gendered nature of ecosystem services. *Ecological Economics*, *159*, 312-325. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2018.12.018</u>

Fredman, S. (2016). Substantive equality revisited. *International Journal of Constitutional Law,* 14(3), 712-738. https://doi.org/10.1093/icon/mow043

Fröcklin, S., de la Torre-Castro, M., Lindström, L., & Jiddawi, N. S. (2013). Fish Traders as Key Actors in Fisheries: Gender and Adaptive Management. *AMBIO*, *42*(8), 951–962. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-013-0451-1</u>

Gallardo-Fernández, G. L. (2018). Before we asked for permission, now we only give notice": Women's entrance into artisanal fisheries in Chile. *Maritime Studies, 17,* 110.

Gender Equality Network. (2015a). *Developing women who lead change: A train-the-trainer methodology to foster women's leadership development in Myanmar*. <u>https://www.genmyanmar.org/system/research_and_publications/rap_file_engs/000/000/014/original/CCL-developing-women-lead-change-myanmar_2015_September.pdf?1517208885_</u>

Gender Equality Network. (2015b). *Raising the Curtain: Cultural Norms, Social Practices and Gender Equality in Myanmar*. Gender Equality Network. <u>https://www.lift-fund.org/en/raising-curtain-cultural-norms-social-practices-and-gender-equality-myanmar</u>

Grant, M., Willetts, J., and Huggett, C. (2019) Gender Equality and Goal 6 – *The Critical Connection: An Australian Perspective.* Canberra: Australian Water Partnership. <u>https://waterpartnership.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/Gender-Equality-and-Goal-6-The-Critical-Connection.pdf</u>

Guérin, I., Kumar, S., & Agier, I. (2013). Women's Empowerment: Power to Act or Power over Other Women? Lessons from Indian Microfinance. *Oxford Development Studies, 41*(sup1), S76-S94. https://doi.org/10.1080/13600818.2013.781147

Harper, S., Zeller, D., Hauzer, M., Pauly, D., & Sumaila, U. R. (2013). Women and fisheries: Contribution to food security and local economies. *Marine Policy*, *39*, 56-63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2012.10.018</u>

Ichikawa, S. (2019). What Does 'Gender' Mean in Myanmar's Rural Fishery Communities? *Ecology, Economy and Society–the INSEE Journal 2, 2,* 111-116. <u>https://ecoinsee.org/journal/papers/issue-2-2/67.pdf</u>

International Women's Development Agency. (2023). *Mynamar*. Retrieved 1 March from <u>https://iwda.org.au/myanmar/</u>

Keen, M., Schwarz, A.-M., & Wini-Simeon, L. (2018). Towards defining the Blue Economy: Practical lessons from pacific ocean governance. *Marine Policy, 88*, 333-341. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2017.03.002</u>

Khaing, W. W., Akester, M. J., Garcia, E. M., Bladon, A., & Mohammed, E. Y. (2018). *Socioeconomic characteristics of hilsa fishers in the Ayeyarwady Delta, Myanmar: Opportunities and challenges*. IIED. https://pubs.iied.org/16656IIED

Khalid Md, B., & Huq, H. (2018). Cinderella and the missing slipper: gender dynamics in water management in the coastal region of Bangladesh. *Journal of Water, Sanitation and Hygiene for Development, 8*(4), 660. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2166/washdev.2018.087</u>

Kramer, T. (2015). Ethnic conflict and lands rights in Myanmar. *Social Research, 82*(2), 355-374. <u>https://themimu.info/sites/themimu.info/files/documents/Academic_article_Ethnic_Conflict_and_Land_Rights_Tom_Kramer_2015.pdf</u>

Kusakabe, K. and Thongprasert, S. 2022. Women and men in small-scale fisheries and aquaculture in Asia – Barriers, constraints and opportunities towards equality and secure livelihoods. Bangkok, FAO. <u>https://doi.org/10.4060/cb9527en</u>

Lamb, V. (2018). Who knows the river? Gender, expertise, and the politics of local ecological knowledge production of the Salween River, Thai-Myanmar border. *Gender, Place & Culture, 25*(12), 1703-1718. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0966369X.2018.1481018</u>

Lau, J. D., Kleiber, D., Lawless, S., & Cohen, P. J. (2021). Gender equality in climate policy and practice hindered by assumptions. *Nature Climate Change*, *11*(3), 186-192. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-021-00999-7</u>

Lawless, S., Cohen, P. J., Mangubhai, S., Kleiber, D., & Morrison, T. H. (2021). Gender equality is diluted in commitments made to small-scale fisheries. *World Development, 140*, 105348. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2020.105348</u>

Lawless, S., Song, A. M., Cohen, P. J., & Morrison, T. H. (2020). Rights, equity and justice: A diagnostic for social meta-norm diffusion in environmental governance. *Earth System Governance*, *6*, 100052. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esg.2020.100052</u>

Manez, K. S., & Pauwelussen, A. (2016). Fish is Women's Business Too: Looking at Marine Resource Use Through a Gender Lens. In K. S. Manez & B. Poulsen (Eds.), *Perspectives on Oceans Past*. Springer. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-7496-3_11

Mangubhai, S., & Cowley, A. (2021). *Gender equity and social inclusion analysis for coastal fisheries*. Wildlife Conservation Society. <u>https://wrd.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/2021-11/WCS2021_GESI%20analysis%20</u> <u>for%20coastal%20fisheries.pdf</u>

Manion, C. (2016). Reflecting on Gender and Education Research and Practice in the Field of Comparative and International Education: Past, Present, and Future. In *Annual Review of Comparative and International Education 2015* (Vol. 28, pp. 61-72). Emerald Group Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1108/S1479-367920150000028003 McNamara, K. E., & Westoby, R. (2014). Ironies of globalisation: Observations from Fiji and Kiribati. *The Journal of Pacific Studies, 34*(2), 53-62.

Moore, B. R., Bell, J. D., Evans, K., Farley, J., Grewe, P. M., Hampton, J., Marie, A. D., Minte-Vera, C., Nicol, S., Pilling, G. M., Scutt Phillips, J., Tremblay-Boyer, L., Williams, A. J., & Smith, N. (2020). Defining the stock structures of key commercial tunas in the Pacific Ocean I: Current knowledge and main uncertainties. *Fisheries Research, 230*, 105525. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fishres.2020.105525</u>

Ngwenya, B. N., Mosepele, K. K., & Magole, L. (2012). A case for gender equity in governance of the Okavango Delta fisheries in Botswana. *Natural Resources Forum 36*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1477-8947.2012.001450.x</u>

Nightingale, A. J. (2017). Environment and gender. In D. Richardson, N. Castree, M. F. Goodchild, A. Kobayashi, W. Liu, & R. A. Marston (Eds.), *The International Encyclopedia of Geography: People, the Earth, Environment and Technology*. Wiley-Blackwell. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118786352.wbieg0667</u>

Nishchith, V. D. (2001). Role and status of women employed in seafood processing units in India. In M. J. Williams, M. C. Nandeesha, V. P. Corral, E. Tech, & C. P.S. (Eds.), *International symposium on women in Asian fisheries: Fifth Asian Fisheries Forum. Asian Fisheries Society, 13 November 1998, Chiang Mai, Thailand.* (pp. 127-136). WorldFish Centre and Asian Fisheries Society, Penang. <u>http://pubs.iclarm.net/libinfo/Pdf/Pub%20</u> <u>CP6%201998.pdf#page=124</u>

Oberhauser, A. M. (2017). Gender and Development. In D. Richardson, N. Castree, M. F. Goodchild, A. Kobayashi, W. Liu, & R. A. Marston (Eds.), *The International Encyclopedia of Geography: People, the Earth, Environment and Technology*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118786352.wbieg0659</u>

Okereke, C. (2008). Equity Norms in Global Environmental Governance. *Global Environmental Politics, 8*(3), 25-50. <u>https://www.muse.jhu.edu/article/246551</u>

On Our Radar (2023). World Fish-AWFISHNET. https://onourradar.org/project/world-fish-awfishnet/

Patterson, J.R. (2023). Stewards of the forest: the pioneering women's collective harvesting the Gambia's oysters. Guardian News. <u>https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/2022/may/03/stewards-of-the-forest-thepioneering-womens-collective-harvesting-the-gambias-oysters.</u>

Paulson, S., Gezon, L. L., & Watts, M. (2003). Locating the political in political ecology: An introduction. *Human Organization, 62*(3), 205-217. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/44127401</u>

Peterson, V. S. (2003). A critical rewriting of global political economy: integrating reproductive, productive and virtual economies. Routledge Taylor & Francis Group.

Prieto-Carolino, A., Siason, I. M., Sumagaysay, M. B., Gelvezon, R. P. L., Monteclaro, H. M., & Asong, R. H. (2021). A gender analysis of the processing sector of the tuna value chain in General Santos City, Philippines. *Marine Policy*, *128*, 104477. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2021.104477</u>

Prügl, E., & Joshi, S. (2021). Productive farmers and vulnerable food securers: contradictions of gender expertise in international food security discourse. *The Journal of Peasant Studies, 48*(7), 1439-1458. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03066150.2021.1964475</u>

Resurreccion, B. P. (2006). Rules, Roles and Rights: Gender, Participation and Community Fisheries Management in Cambodia's Tonle Sap Region. *International Journal of Water Resources Development*, *22*(3), 433-447. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07900620500482949</u>

Rocheleau, D. E. (2008). Political ecology in the key of policy: From chains of explanation to webs of relation. *Geoforum, 39*, 716-727. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2007.02.005</u>

Rocheleau, D. E., & Edmunds, D. (1997). Women, men and trees: Gender, power and property in forest and agrarian landscapes. *World Development, 25*(8), 1351-1371. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0305-750X(97)00036-3</u>

Rocheleau, D. E., Thomas-Slayter, B. P., & Wangari, E. (1996). *Feminist Political Ecology: Global Issues and Local Experiences*. Routledge.

Salguero-Velázquez, A., Solano, N., Fernandez-Rivera Melo, F. J., López-Ercilla, I., & Torre, J. (2022).

Characterization of masculinity expressions and their influence on the participation of women in Mexican small-scale fisheries. *Maritime Studies*, *21*(3), 363-378. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40152-022-00276-z</u>

Samuels, F., Mireku, M., George, R., Rivett, J., & Dwyer, E. (2021). *Intersecting exclusions: Experiences of violence and displacement among LGBTQI+ communities in Kenya* (ODI Report, Issue. <u>https://odi.org/en/publications/</u> intersecting-exclusions-experiences-of-violence-and-displacement-among-lgbtqi-communities-in-kenya

Shannon, K., Kerr, T., Strathdee, S. A., Shoveller, J., Montaner, J. S., & Tyndall, M. W. (2009). Prevalence and structural correlates of gender based violence among a prospective cohort of female sex workers. *BMJ*, 339. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.b2939</u>

Shanthi, B., Mahalakshimi, P., & Chandrasekaran, V. S. (2017). Assessing Pre and Post Tsunami Impacts on the Livelihoods of Coastal Women Using SocioEconomic and Gender Analysis (SEAGA). *Asian Fisheries Science Special Issue, 30S*, 199-217. <u>https://doi.org/10.33997/j.afs.2017.30.S1.010</u>

Silvester, P., Bladon, A., Akester, M. J., Soe, K. M., & Mohammed, E. (2020). *Financing incentive-based hilsa fisheries management in Myanmar through fiscal reform* IIED. <u>http://pubs.iied.org/16669IIED</u>

Singh-Peterson, L., & Carnegie, M. (2020). *Integrating Gender in Agricultural Development: Learnings from South Pacific Contexts*. Emerald Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/9781789730555</u>

Soe, K. M., Baran, E., Grantham, R., Tezzo, X., & Johnston, G. (2020). *Myanmar inland fisheries and aquaculture: A decade in review*. ACIAR. <u>https://digitalarchive.worldfishcenter.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.12348/4049/661e3370af351c02e7fba2412087cf5c.pdf?sequence=2&isAllowed=y</u>

Song, A. M., Cohen, P. J., Hanich, Q., Morrison, T. H., & Andrew, N. (2019). Multi-scale policy diffusion and translation in Pacific Island coastal fisheries. *Ocean & Coastal Management, 168,* 139-149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2018.11.005</u>

Sornkliang, J., Tiaye, R., Yenpoeng, T., Kaewtankam, V., & Pholcharoen, J. (2018). Recognizing Gender Roles in the Fisheries Value Chain: local fishing communities of Thailand in focus. *Fish for the People, 16*(2), 14-19. https://repository.seafdec.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.12066/1378/sp16-2%20gender%20role%20in%20 the%20fisheries%20value%20chain.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

Sultana, F. (2011). Suffering for water, suffering from water: Emotional geographies of resource access, control and conflict. *Geoforum*, *42*(2), 163–172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2010.12.002</u>

Syddall, V., Fisher, K., & Thrush, S. (2022). What does gender have to do with the price of tuna? Socialecological systems view of women, gender, and governance in Fiji's tuna fishery. *Maritime Studies, In press*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40152-022-00281-2</u>

Teh, L. C. L., Caddell, R., Allison, E. H., Finkbeiner, E. M., Kittinger, J. N., Nakamura, K., & Ota, Y. (2019). The role of human rights in implementing socially responsible seafood. *PLoS ONE*, *14*(1), e0210241. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0210241</u>

The Australian Water Partnership. (2021). *Myanmar Young Water Professional Program*. Retrieved March 1 from <u>https://waterpartnership.org.au/project/myanmar-young-water-professional-program/</u>

The Gender Equality Network. (2015). *Raising the Curtain: Cultural Norms, Social Practices and Gender Equality in Myanmar*.

Thompson, J. (2016). Intersectionality and water: how social relations intersect with ecological difference. *Gender, Place & Culture, 23*(9), 1286-1301. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0966369x.2016.1160038</u>

Tial, D. T., Thang, R. H., Lian, V. C., & Khaing, W. W. (2020). *A stacked value chain analysis study of smoked rohu from Kale Township, Sagaing Region, Myanmar*. <u>https://digitalarchive.worldfishcenter.org/handle/20.500.12348/4394</u>

Underhill-Sem, Y., Cox, E., Lacey, A., & Szamier, M. (2014). Changing market culture in the Pacific: Assembling a conceptual framework from diverse knowledge and experiences. *Asia Pacific Viewpoint, 55*(3), 306-318. https://doi.org/10.1111/apv.12063

United Nations Conference on Trade and Development. (2020). A gender assessment of

Myanmar and of the Inle Lake area with a focus on the agriculture and tourism sectors. <u>https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/ditc2020d3_en.pdf</u>

United Nations Development Programme. (2022). *Gender Inequality Index*. https://hdr.undp.org/data-center/documentation-and-downloads

USAID Oceans and Fisheries Partnership. (2020). *Regional Document on Gender Integration in the Fisheries Workplace*. <u>https://repository.seafdec.or.th/handle/20.500.12067/1636</u>

Water For Women Fund. (2022). *Gender Equality and Social Inclusion Self-Assessment Tool*. Retrieved 22 April from <u>https://www.waterforwomenfund.org/en/learning-and-resources/towards-transformation-in-wash-gender-equality-and-inclusion-self-assessment-tool.aspx</u>

Weeratunge, N., Snyder, K. A., & Sze, C. P. (2010). Gleaner, Fisher, Trader, Processor: Understanding Gendered Employment in Fisheries and Aquaculture. *Fish and Fisheries*, *11*(4), 405–420. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-2979.2010.00368.x

Williams, M., & Syddall, V. (2022). Women, Fisheries Technology and Development: Towards New Research Approaches. *Gender, Technology and Development, In Press*.

Williams, M. J. (2008). Why Look at Fisheries through a Gender Lens? *Development, 51,* 180-185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/dev.2008.2</u>

World Bank. (2021). *Employment in agriculture (% of total employment) (modelled ILO estimate)*. <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SLAGR.EMPL.ZS?locations=MM</u>

WorldFish. (2021). *Fish for Livelihoods: Quarterly Report (First Quarter October 1 to December 31 2021)*. <u>https://digitalarchive.worldfishcenter.org/bitstream/</u> handle/20.500.12348/5211/03df6d4cd000b8682135c48628e3b5c5.pdf?sequence=2&isAllowed=y

Appendix: Key recommendations in considering GEDSI and fisheries sectors

Specific to applying the GEDSI framework in fisheries research, analysis, management, and policy decision making, across all stages of the project cycle, the following actions are recommended (see Figure 1):

Dustant Dhana	Descurrent de tiene fan waartijden om en die elien waalen.
Project Phase	Recommendations for practitioners and policy makers
Pre-design	 Invest in GEDSI awareness and personal transformation for staff and communities.
	• Increase investments in GEDSI aware labour rights and laws relevant to the fisheries sectors.
	• Conduct robust GEDSI analysis and research to identify diverse knowledges and expertise, roles and responsibilities in fisheries – disaggregated by gender and other social identities (e.g. ages, abilities/disabilities).
	• Ensure all technical projects and roles are also informed by GEDSI analysis (e.g. fishways, water management infrastructure, technologies).
	• Establish clear and open communication with community stakeholders to form collaborative partnerships.
	• Identify diverse knowledges and expertise of different groups in communities and their respective roles in water management and fisheries, which are critical for the sustainable use and management of fisheries resources.
Design	• Form partnerships with rights holder organisations (women's groups, organisations for people with disabilities (OPDs) for example) to help with design, implementation and monitoring of projects.
	 Conduct robust GEDSI analysis including roles and responsibilities in fisheries and water management – disaggregated by gender and other social identities (e.g. ages, abilities/disabilities).
	• Consider needs of community members in designs (e.g. safety in infrastructure for children, people with disabilities).
	• Ensure design considers different people's access to and control over resources including political economy analysis of water and fisheries in the context.
	• Ensure designs consider connections between fisheries and the wider ecosystem including water resources – uses, and patterns of those uses (including the different ways the resources are used including benefits, opportunities, costs, risks and impacts).

Implementation	Improve coordination between government agencies, especially those related to food, water, and gender issues (working beyond silos).
	Deliver meaningful participation activities for whole of the community, and across the whole fisheries value chain.
	Engage GEDSI experts and local GEDSI groups in implementation processes to ensure that GEDSI strategies are carried out well and safely.
Monitoring, evaluation and learning (MEL)	• Disaggregate date by sex, age, ethnicity, and other relevant social categories to ensure that fisheries projects and programs are inclusive.
	 Design inclusive monitoring, evaluation and learning (MEL) processes for projects, programs and infrastructure with GEDSI experts and rights holder organisations.
	• MEL should examine both water, fisheries and social ecosystems and consider benefits to culture, issues of power, and impacts on the economy.
	• MEL should seek to identify the benefits and who bear the costs- who is being left out due to unequal access to fisheries resources? Who is being empowered or supported financially, and whose voices and opinions are being heard, and not heard in decision-making with respect to these resources.



The Australian Water Partnership is an Australian Government international cooperation initiative helping developing countries in the Indo-Pacific region, and beyond, work towards the sustainable management of their water resources.



Australian Water Partnership UC Innovation Centre (Bldg 22), University Drive South, Canberra ACT 2617, Australia T +61 2 6206 8320 E contact@waterpartnership.org.au waterpartnership.org.au